IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

LUIS A. HIDALGO, JR.

Electronically Filed Feb 09 2011 09:55 a.m. Tracie K. Lindeman

Appellant,

VS.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Docket No. 54209

Direct Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court The Honorable Valerie Adair, District Judge District Court Case No. C212667/C241394

APPELLANT LUIS A. HIDALGO, JR.'S OPENING BRIEF

DOMINIC P. GENTILE, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 1923
PAOLA M. ARMENI, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 8357
MARGARET W. LAMBROSE, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 11626
GORDON SILVER
3960 Howard Hughes Parkway, 9th Floor
Las Vegas, Nevada 89169
Telephone: (702) 796-5555

Facsimile: (702) 369-2666

I. STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Luis A. Hidalgo Jr. (hereafter "H")¹ was found guilty by a jury of conspiracy to commit battery with a deadly weapon and/or causing substantial bodily harm and second degree murder with the use of a deadly weapon in case C241394 in the Eighth Judicial District Court. 24 ROA 4500. A judgment of conviction was entered July 10, 2009, sentencing him to consecutive terms of life imprisonment with the possibility of parole. 25 ROA 4656-4657. The notice of appeal was timely filed on July 16, 2009. 25 ROA 4658-4659. This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to NRS 177.015(3).

II. STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

A. Did the trial court commit reversible error when it instructed the jury that existence of the conspiracy and H's membership in it could be established by 'slight evidence'?

- B. Was there sufficient corroboration of the accomplice testimony to support the verdict?
- C. Did the intentional failure by the State to record an accomplice witness's plea negotiation proffer violate H's right to due process of law and a fair trial?
- D. Was H's right to confrontation violated by admitting into evidence statements by a purported co-conspirator who both sides agreed had withdrawn from the conspiracy when he made them?
- E. Was the district court's denial, without a hearing, of H's Motion for New Trial based upon juror misconduct an abuse of discretion?

///

¹ Appellant and his son, Luis A. Hidalgo III, have identical names and are both appealing their convictions in this matter. The use of the appellation 'H' and 'III' is as an economical aid to the Court to distinguish between them, is artificial and is not intended to demean their dignity.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case was consolidated with one filed in May, 2005, charging Kenneth Counts ("Counts"), Luis Alonso Hidalgo III ("III"), Anabel Espindola ("Anabel") and Deangelo Reshawn Carroll ("Deangelo") with Conspiracy to Commit Murder and Murder of Timothy J. Hadland ("TJ"), and Anabel and III with soliciting the murder of Ronte Zone ("Zone") and Jayson Taoipu ("JJ"). 1 ROA 1-3. 5 ROA 916-918. All were denied bail and facing the death penalty. 1 ROA 4, 9-25. A writ issued from this Court striking the death penalty, later modified to allow amendment. 1 ROA 188-192; 3 ROA 516-529. Less than one month before the trial of III and Anabel, the State amended its notice of intent to seek the death penalty (3 ROA 530-533) and filed a petition for rehearing in this Court. 3 ROA 534-548. Soon thereafter, while the State's petition for rehearing was pending and after being in jail (hereinafter "CCDC") since May 24, 2005 (32 months and 11 days), Anabel cut a deal with the State. Under the terms of her February 2, 2008 plea agreement she entered a "fictional plea" to "voluntary manslaughter with use of a deadly weapon." 3 ROA 549-557. In exchange for her testimony, the State agreed that her sentence could include the possibility of probation and that it would not argue against it. Id. The agreement also provided that she could be released from jail and placed on house arrest as soon as she testified under cross-examination. Id. and 5 ROA 822. ²

² Anabel's sentencing in case C212667 is set for February 10, 2011, over three years after she agreed to testify against H. 25 ROA 4667. Because of the close relationship between the two cases, this Court can take judicial notice of the fact that as of the filing of this brief, Anabel has still not been sentenced. Mack v. Estate of Mack, __Nev __, 206 P.3d 98, 106 (2009).

H was thereafter charged on vicarious liability theories for the murder of TJ. The State presented Anabel's testimony to a grand jury and obtained an indictment. 3 ROA 574-575, 4 ROA 724-727. H was released on bail pending trial, notwithstanding that he was facing the death penalty at that time. 4 ROA 789. Trial commenced on January 27, 2009 and the case went to the jury on February 12, 2009. The verdict was returned on February 17, 2009. 24 ROA 4500-4501. H's timely filed post-trial motions were supplemented after discovering evidence of jury misconduct. 24 ROA 4506-4523; 24 ROA 4558-4566. The district court denied the motions on May 1, 2009. 25 ROA 4660-4663. H received consecutive sentences of life with the possibility of parole for second degree murder with use of a deadly weapon and conspiracy to commit battery with use of a weapon on June 29, 2009 and judgment of conviction was entered July 10, 2009. 25 ROA 4656-4657. The notice of appeal was timely filed on July 16, 2009. 25 ROA 4658-4659.

IV. STATEMENT OF FACTS.

A. Preliminary Statement

H is an American citizen who emigrated from El Salvador in 1957. 21 ROA 3959. He moved to Las Vegas in 1999 from Northern California, where he worked for a Sheriff's Department and owned an auto body shop. 21 ROA 3960-3962. In Las Vegas he opened the same type of business, Simone's Auto Plaza (hereinafter "Simone's") in which his investment partner was the doctor who introduced angioplasty to the United States. 21 ROA 3965-3968. The doctor owned the Palomino Club ("the Club") and the real estate upon which it sat but later sold it to H. 21 ROA 3967-3968, 3974.

H, who had never before been charged with a criminal offense, was convicted and sentenced to consecutive life terms when he was fifty-eight years old and in poor health. 15 ROA 2859; 25 ROA 4656-4657. This was solely because of Anabel's testimony. 4 ROA 724-727. She had served thirty-two months in jail awaiting trial and facing the death penalty prior to making a deal with the State for probation and release from confinement. She was required to provide testimony against H to secure that deal Id. The State acknowledged that it did not have sufficient evidence to charge H without Anabel. 14 ROA 2724; 15 ROA 2837-2838.

H never contested the evidence concerning the murder, as it was clear that he was not present. The State's theory was that H was a co-conspirator or aider and abettor in the murder. 5 ROA 836-838. The defense was that H did neither, knew of no impending harm to TJ and reacted out of fear when he later paid the gangster/killer who demanded it. 23 ROA 4292,4306.

B. Statement of Facts Relevant to Assignments of Error

1. The Criminal Investigation

TJ's body was found on a desolate road near Lake Mead before midnight on May 19, 2005. 12 ROA 2814-2815. TJ had been shot twice. 13 ROA 2370-2391. The autopsy revealed .07 grams per milliliter of alcohol, and marijuana metabolite present in TJ's blood. 13 ROA 2383; 2386-2387. According to TJ's girlfriend, they had been camping at Lake Mead that evening when TJ received a phone call from Deangelo, a former coworker at the Club. 12 ROA 2231,2241. TJ worked at the Club until a few weeks prior to his death. 12 ROA 2208, 2215. After receiving the call, TJ left her alone at Lake

Mead in the dark- over her objections because she had never camped before - and drove her KIA to meet Deangelo to get marijuana. 12 ROA 2215, 2221-2222. He never returned. 12 ROA 2222. TJ had \$40 or \$50 with him when he left. 12 ROA 2235.³

At the crime scene, Detective McGrath found a phone in the KIA and noted that the last call on the phone was to "Deangelo." 14 ROA 2653, 2660. He learned the next

Anabel's phone received a call from Counts' phone on May 19, 2005 at 11:10:12 p.m. that lasted 1.4 minutes. 19 ROA 3615. Anabel's phone called back to Counts' phone at 11:12:58 pm but it shows 0 seconds duration. 19 ROA 3616. At 3:51:35 on May 19, 2005, phone #239-2350 (P.K. Handley's phone, see below) called Anabel's phone for 2.2 minutes. 19 ROA 3615. Deangelo's home phone called Anabel's phone at 4:58:56 p.m. on May 19, 2005 for 1.1 minutes and again at 7:27:05 p.m. for 3.75 minutes. 19 ROA 3622. There were also two phone calls, one inbound one outbound, between Deangelo's home phone and III's cell phone between 7:42:58 p.m. and 8:07:31 p.m. on 5/19/05 and two additional calls from Anabel's phone to Deangelo's home phone at 8:13 and 8:15 p.m. on that date. 19 ROA 3623. Anabel called #239-2350 at 8:42:16 p.m. for a duration of 1.33 minutes on that date as well. 19 ROA 3624. Deangelo's cell phone chirped TJ's at 10:39 p.m. and then Anabel's for 25.7 seconds at 10:42:07 and again at 10:45:25 for 8.3 seconds. Anabel chirped Deangelo for 12.6 seconds at 10:45:35 p.m. 19 ROA 3624-2635.

Eight minutes later, Deangelo chirped TJ at 10:53:41 and again at 10:54:52 p.m., the second for 20.7 seconds. 19 ROA 3625-3626. The 9-1-1 call reporting TJ's body in the road came in at 11:44 p.m. 19 ROA 3625-3626. At 11:08:06 Anabel chirped Deangelo. At 11:08:10 Deangelo chirped Anabel for a duration of 13 seconds. 19 ROA 3626-3627. At 11:10:12 Counts phone called Anabel for 84 seconds. 19 ROA 3627. At 11:12:58 Anabel called Counts' phone for 0 seconds. Id. At 11:13:21 Deangelo chirped TJ for 13.6 seconds. 19 ROA 3628. It is the last known communication prior to his death. 19 ROA 3626- 3627. At 11:37:35 Anabel chirped Deangelo for 0 seconds and at 11:37:41 Deangelo called Anabel for 21.2 seconds. 19 ROA 3627.

At trial, Anabel contended that she didn't speak with Deangelo after he left the Club with the \$5,000 she gave him until May 23, 2005 at Simone's. 17 ROA 3232-3233. However, the phone records reflect that starting on May 20, 2005, 12:10:45 PM (12+ hours after previous chirp) Deangelo called Anabel for 30.5 seconds. 19 ROA 3628. At 2:53:19 PM Anabel called Deangelo for 7.4 seconds. Id. At 2:53:25 PM Deangelo called Anabel for 16 seconds. 19 ROA 3629. At 2:53:31 PM Deangelo chirped Anabel 35.4 seconds and at 2:54:13 PM Deangelo

³ Only \$6.03 was found at the crime scene. 12 ROA 2292.

⁴ Records relating to several telephone/direct-connect devices involving subscribers H, III, Anabel, Deangelo, TJ and Counts were introduced at trial.. 13 ROA 2326-2396. **Not a single call or direct connect "chirp" came to or from H's phone** among the series of communications between Anabel, Deangelo, Counts and TJ before or after TJ was shot. 13 ROA 2354; 19 ROA 2594.

morning that Deangelo worked at the Club. 14 ROA 2660-2661. Detective Wildemann called H and made an appointment to meet him at the Club. 19 ROA 3570-3571. H confirmed that Deangelo worked at the Club. 19 ROA 3572, 3604. H advised Wildemann to come back later that night and speak with Ariel, an employee, to obtain Deangelo's records. 19 ROA 3572, 3604-3605.

That evening McGrath and Wildemann were at the Club interviewing Ariel when Deangelo arrived. 19 ROA 3572, 3605; 14 ROA 2665-2666. The detectives asked Deangelo to accompany them to an interview. 14 ROA 2667; 19 ROA 3572, 3606. He complied and was interviewed on videotape. 14 ROA 2667. He gave "at least" three versions regarding the death of TJ. 19 ROA 3573. Detectives then located Zone at Deangelo's home. 14 ROA 2668-2669. After Deangelo told Zone to "tell the truth"⁵, 14 ROA 2669-2670, Zone was interviewed on videotape. 14 ROA 2671. His statement was consistent with the 3rd version of Deangelo's. 19 ROA 3579. Hours later SWAT officers forcefully removed Counts, an "extremely violent" known gang member, from the ceiling of a home and arrested him. 14 ROA 2653, 2679, 15 ROA 2860-2862.

On May 23, 2005, detectives wired Deangelo with a digital recorder and sent him into Simone's because they "didn't think they had enough" evidence to charge anyone from the Club with the murder. 14 ROA 2724; 15 ROA 2837-2838. Deangelo was directed to speak with H. 14 ROA 2672, 2705-2707; 15 ROA 2848. When he exited, chirped Anabel for 8.1 seconds. 19 ROA 3628-3630. Perhaps these calls resulted in the "blur"

that she describes in her testimony set out below.

⁵ Zone testified that what Deangelo meant by this was to tell a story that would help him out. 14 ROA 2587.

Deangelo (who had not been searched previously) gave the detective \$1400 cash and a bottle of gin. 14 ROA 2707. The digital recording was found to be of very poor quality, 14 ROA 2708, 2711, but established that Deangelo had made no attempt to speak to H. 15 ROA 2749-2751. The detectives decided to try again the following day and sent Deangelo into Simone's wired. 14 ROA 2712-2714. Deangelo again wasn't searched before entry and on departure he gave the detectives \$800.00 along with the recorder. 15 ROA 2759,14 ROA 2713-2714. Although he had been specifically directed to do so, Deangelo again made no request or attempt to speak with H, who was observed by detectives to be inside before Deangelo entered and to leave hours after his departure.15 ROA 2749-2751, 2832, 19 ROA 3588-3589.

After Deangelo left Simone's on May 24, 2005, Anabel and III were arrested. 15 ROA 2766; 19 ROA 3590. Search warrants were executed at Simone's and the Club. While many items were found linking Anabel to Deangelo and the van used to kill TJ 12 ROA 2264-5, 2290, 2295; 19 ROA 3590, 3603-07, the only piece of forensic evidence that had anything to do with H was a note in H's handwriting which said "we may be under surveills(sp). Keep your mouth shut" found on the pool table in the waiting area of Simone's. 18 ROA 3449-3475, 19 ROA 3606.

. . .

⁶ McGrath testified that some of the information supplied by Deangelo proved to be incorrect, unsupported or false. 15 ROA 2833. At trial, McGrath acknowledged his continued doubts about Deangelo's credibility. 15 ROA 2834.

2. Testimony of Zone.

Zone was interviewed by Metro shortly after the murder. He had never met or spoken to H and his sole source of information about him was Deangelo, his friend and roommate, whom he knew was a convicted felon, liar and braggart. 13 ROA 2392; 14 ROA 2501-2504, 2507, 2551-2552. On May 19, 2005, Zone smoked marijuana all day (as he did every day, believing it made him "smarter", while admitting it didn't help his memory of that day's events). 14 ROA 2521-2522, 2556-2557. He worked for Deangelo passing out flyers for the Club and around noon that day he was with him and JJ in the van when Deangelo asked him if he was into hurting someone. 13 ROA 2397, 2401-2402; 14 ROA 2505-2506. Later Deangelo mentioned someone had to be "dealt with." 13 ROA 2403. Deangelo also pulled out a .22 revolver. Id. JJ was given an unloaded gun and Zone was given bullets. 14 ROA 2524, 2559. Zone never heard Deangelo talking about this matter on the phone. 13 ROA 2408. They went back to Deangelo's house to get ready for work. 13 ROA 2405. They later went to pick up Counts. 13 ROA 2409. Zone thought they were going out to promote again but instead they drove to Lake Mead, smoking pot along the way. 13 ROA 2412, 2415-2417. During the drive, there was no conversation as to the purpose of the trip amongst the group. 13 ROA 2413, 2414.

Deangelo spoke on the phone during the drive to Lake Mead. 13 ROA 2413. Zone heard Anabel on the phone say "go to plan B." 14 ROA 2575. The phone signal faded while they were there. 13 ROA 2417. Deangelo also phoned TJ and said that they were coming to smoke with him. 14 ROA 2600; 13 ROA 2415. When he drove to meet them, TJ got out of the KIA and walked towards the driver's side of the van, where

Deangelo was sitting. 13 ROA 2422. Counts got out of the van, snuck up on TJ and shot him in the head twice. ROA 2423. No one else exited the van. 13 ROA 2423-2424. Counts reentered the van and Deangelo drove off. 13 ROA 2424. They drove to the Club and Deangelo went inside while the others remained in the van. 13 ROA 2426. Ten minutes later, he came back and got Counts to go inside with him. 13 ROA 2426-2427. JJ and Zone did not enter the Club. 13 ROA 2427. Counts came back out and got in a yellow taxi cab in front of the Club and left. 13 ROA 2427. Deangelo exited about 30 minutes later and the three went back to his house. 13 ROA 2427-2428.

The next day, May 20, 2005, Deangelo replaced the tires and cleaned the van. 13 ROA 2428-2430. ⁸ Later that day, Deangelo, JJ and Zone went to Simone's in the van.13 ROA 2432-2433. JJ and Zone waited on a couch and Deangelo went to the back of the building. 13 ROA 2433. Zone did not hear any conversations or see anyone at that time. 13 ROA 2434. Deangelo told Zone that they should have stuck with the plan and that he was disappointed they weren't involved and indicated Counts had been paid \$6,000 for what they were supposed to have done. 13 ROA 2434-2435. It was not until that day that he heard Deangelo mention that other people had put him up to shooting TJ. 14 ROA 2576. Zone admitted to telling several lies in previous statements and that Deangelo had spoken with him before speaking to police officers about trying to put "a truth" together; a story that would help him out. 14 ROA 2586-7.

⁷ During his testimony in the Counts trial, Zone claimed that he could not identify Counts. 14 ROA 2580.

⁸ Zone previously testified that they washed the car immediately after leaving the Club on the night of the incident before heading home. 13 ROA 2430.

3. Testimony of Anabel

Anabel had been with H for about 15 years prior to her arrest. 17 ROA 3206. She managed Simone's and H managed the Club. 17 ROA 3186, 3328. 17 ROA 3186. Both TJ and Deangelo had worked at the club as doormen and passing out VIP cards and flyers. 17 ROA 3187, 3202. H and Deangelo did not have a relationship or association outside of work. 16 ROA 3002. About one week before the murder she heard III and H discussing the possibility that TJ was falsifying tickets and getting kickbacks from cabbies. 16 ROA 3004. H said "watch TJ." 16 ROA 3008. A day or two later H told Ariel that TJ needed to be fired and Anabel issued his final check. 16 ROA 3007-3008. 9

On May 19, 2005, Deangelo called Anabel and told her that TJ had been "bad mouthing" the Club. 16 ROA 3011-3013. She told H and III this information. 16 ROA 3013, 3015. H did not react. 16 ROA 3015. III became angry and vocal about how something had to be done about it. 16 ROA 3015-3016. She says that III told H that "Rizzolo or Galardi" would do something about it and that is why his father would never be as successful as them. 16 ROA 3015. H did not respond, but instead told III to mind his own business. 16 ROA 3017. She says that III stormed out of the room and left. 16 ROA 3018. She and H later went to the Club and shortly after they arrived, Deangelo came to H's office and had a short conversation which Anabel did not hear. 16 ROA 3035-3036. Later, H went into the office where Pilar Handley ("PK") was with Anabel. 16 ROA 3037; 17 ROA 3228. H told Anabel to go into the room behind the office and to call Deangelo and tell him to "go to plan B." 17 ROA 3227; 16 ROA 3037-3038. When

⁹ See testimony of Pilar Handley, below, wherein he says that Anabel fired TJ.

she called him, Deangelo said he was "already here" and the call disconnected. 16 ROA 3038-3041. She tried to call him back with no success. 16 ROA 3044. She told H that she called Deangelo while PK was still in the room. H and PK walked out of the room. 16 ROA 3045. Later that night, Deangelo came back while H was in the office. 16 ROA 3045-3046. She claims that Deangelo said "its done" and H told her to get \$5,000 out of the safe, which she did. 16 ROA 3046-3047. Deangelo took the money and departed. 16 ROA 3049. Anabel still claimed to be in the dark about what happened to TJ 17 ROA 3226. 10

Anabel claims that Friday May 20th, was "somewhat of a blur". ¹¹ 16 ROA 3056-3057. She says that when he saw a story on the morning news about a death at Lake Mead, H said he needed to call his attorney. 16 ROA 3054. She and H met with attorney Jerome DePalma on Saturday, May 21 but she only spoke to DePalma for a minute or two and was instructed to leave and waited in the car. 16 ROA 3058, 3065, 3069-72. She testified that no one else was present with DePalma and if he were to testify (as he later did) that he had a detailed conversation with her about this matter, he would be lying. 17

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