1	IN THE SUPREME COUR	T OF THE STATE OF NEVADA
2		
3		
4		Electronically Filed Jun 10 2011 01:32 p.m.
5	LUIS A. HIDALGO, JR.,,) Case No. 5420 Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court
6	Appellant,	
7	V.	
8	THE STATE OF NEVADA,	
9 10	Respondent.	_)
10	DESDONDENTS	S ANSWERING BRIEF
12		
13	Eighth Judicial Dist	dgment of Conviction trict Court, Clark County
14	DOMINIC P. GENTILE, ESQ.	DAVID ROGER
15	Gordon Silver Law Firm Nevada Bar #001923	Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #002781
16	PAOLA M. ARMENI, ESQ. Gordon Silver Law Firm	Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue
17	Nevada Bar #008357 MARGARET W. LAMBROSE, ESQ.	Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212

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

¹⁵ Like Mr. H, the <u>Tran</u> defendant unsuccessfully attempted to invoke <u>Sullivan v. Louisiana</u>'s structural error analysis.

4 5 6

8

9 10

11 12

13

14

15 16

17

18 19

20 21

22

23 24

25

26

27 28 Thus, these numerous and closely analogous practices demonstrate there was no confusion created by the district court giving JI 40.

Mr. H believes any approach other than the federal approach is incorrect and a violation of due process rights. He presents no caselaw supporting that proposition; nor could he because none exists. Further, he ignores McDowell's holding that the evidentiary standard at issue is "merely the result of statutory interpretation," not constitutional due process principles. McDowell, 103 Nev. at 529, 746 P.2d at 150. Just as the Court elected not to adopt Bourjaily's preponderance standard, it might elect not to adopt the federal standard that admissibility determinations are only for the court. Further, just as in Rowland v. State, 118 Nev. 31, 41-42, 39 P.3d 114, 120-121 (2002) and its preceding lines of cases, where the Court elected to place the admissibility of accomplice statements in the hands of the jury, the Court might also decide to require an additional jury determination of admissibility of co-conspirator statements.

Moreover, that the federal approach holds the admissibility determination is solely an issue for the trial judge, does not mean the district court in this case was precluded from instructing the jury on the issue. As explained above, California, which incorporates Bourjaily's preponderance standard, permits the admissibility determination to be made by the jury. California appellate courts routinely address whether trial courts commit an error in failing to use CALJIC 6.24 to instruct the jury to make a threshold admissibility determination for co-conspirator statements. See, e.g., People v. Prieto, 30 Cal.4th 226, 66 P.3d 1123 (Cal. 2003) (no prejudice where trial court failed to instruct jury with CALJIC 6.24); People v. Herrera, 83 Cal.App.4th 46, 46–63, 98 Cal.Rptr.2d 911 (Cal. Ct. App. 2000) ("prima facie" evidence of the conspiracy, in the context of Evidence Code § 1223, means that the jury cannot consider the statement in issue unless it finds the preliminary facts to be true from a preponderance of the evidence); People v. Smith, 187 Cal.App.3d 666, 679–680, 231 Cal.Rptr. 897, 905 (Cal. Ct. App. 1986) (error not to give CALJIC 6.24 in a murderrobbery case, where the jury had to consider a witness's hearsay statements tending to show defendant's knowledge of the robbery plan); People v. Jourdain, 111 Cal.App.3d 396, 168

56

89

1011

1213

1415

1617

18

1920

21

2223

24

2526

27

28

Cal.Rptr. 702 (Cal. Ct. App. 1980); <u>Royal v. Kernan</u>, 2009 WL 1034502 at 15-18 (E.D. Cal. 2009) (noting question is one of state evidentiary law and observing trial court has discretion whether to instruct jury with CALJIC 6.24). California's approach demonstrates there is no immutable legal principle requiring that the admissibility determination never be submitted to the jury.

Mr. H argues the admissibility of co-conspirator statements does not constitute a question properly submitted to the jury under NRS 47.070. He claims the admissibility of coconspirator evidence is always a matter for preliminary judicial determination under NRS 47.060 only. App. Op. Br. 39 (first full paragraph). There is some support for this view in McDowell, which quotes in a footnote the federal analog to NRS 47.060, FRE 104(a). McDowell, 103 Nev. at 529, 746 P.2d at 150. Nevertheless, McDowell's mention of FRE 104(a) is not dispositive of the question in light of the Court's prior guidance on similar evidentiary issues, particularly the accomplice corroboration requirement where the Court has long required, where the evidence is in dispute, the sufficiency of non-accomplice corroborating evidence to be submitted to the jury. See, e.g., State v. Sheeley, 63 Nev. 88, 95-97, 162 P.2d 96, 99 (1945); Cutler v. State, 93 Nev. 329, 334, 566 P.2d 809, 812 (1977). Accomplice corroboration also is not an issue of conditional relevance under NRS 47.070, but, when disputed, must be submitted to the jury for resolution; indeed, the inquiry is the same: the jury must find slight evidence inculpating the defendant, independently of the accomplice testimony. State v. Williams, 35 Nev. 276, 129 P. 317, 318 (1913); Servin v. State, 117 Nev. 775, 796-797, 32 P.3d 1277, 1292 (2001) (Leavitt, J., concurring) (quoting State v. Hilbish, 59 Nev. 469, 479, 97 P.2d 435, 439 (1940)). Like the co-conspirator hearsay exception, the accomplice corroboration rule is a question of competence and reliability, not relevance. Thus, there is no reason the competence and reliability of co-conspirator hearsay statements cannot also be submitted to the jury. Again, such a process would only benefit a defendant by requiring a second admissibility determination prior to turning to the ultimate issue of whether all the elements and charges have been proved beyond a reasonable doubt.

26

27

28

In this case, as in other cases, the State requested the instruction believing it was required and to forestall arguments of error if it was not given. 23 AA 4212-4213; 24 AA 4531-4532. Indeed, the record demonstrates the State defended JI 40 on the basis that it was a correct statement of the law and inured to Mr. H's benefit. Id. It is the State's belief that had the Court *not* given JI 40, Mr. H would now be arguing he was entitled to a jury determination of the admissibility of the co-conspirator statements because it goes to an ultimate issue, his membership in the conspiracy. Because the evidentiary standards and jury instructions governing admission of co-conspirator statements are a matter of state statutory law, had the district court not included the disputed language in JI 40, Mr. H would now be arguing he was entitled to have the jury also make an admissibility determination. Cf., e.g., Prieto, supra; People v. Royal, 2005 WL 44401 at 9-11 (Cal. Ct. App. 2005) (any error in not giving CALJIC 6.24 instructing jury to make admissibility determination was harmless); People v. Rossum, 2005 WL 1385312 at 7-9 (Cal. Ct. App. 2005) (rejecting claim that trial court erred by electing not to instruct jury with CALJIC 6.24); Galache v. Kenan, 2008 WL 3833411 at 5 (C.D. Cal. 2008) ("Petitioner's second and final claim is that she was denied due process by the trial court's failure to instruct the jury with CALJIC Nos. 6.21 and 6.24).

Moreover, Mr. H may allege on post-conviction that he received ineffective assistance of counsel because his attorneys did not insist on the evidentiary issue being submitted to the jury. Cf., e.g., King v. Borg, 21 F.3d 1113 at 8-9 (9th Cir. 1994) (denying relief based on post-conviction claim that attorney was ineffective in failing to request CALJIC 6.24 instructing jury to make co-conspirator admissibility determination). Thus, the district court clearly did not abuse its discretion or commit a legal error by mentioning in JI 40 the standard for admissibility of co-conspirator statements.

Notwithstanding Mr. H's copious citations to the nonbinding practice in federal courts, the Court is free to now permit or prohibit Nevada's district courts from instructing their juries to make the admissibility determination regarding co-conspirator statements. The law would probably benefit from the Court's guidance and Mr. H's case does present the question; that would not demonstrate, however, that the district court committed an error.

And, in any event, assuming the Court finds JI 40 is not the best practice, it was clearly harmless in this case and in fact benefited Mr. H. 16

4

5

8

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17 18

19

20

21

22 23

24

25

26

27

28

C. Assuming the District Court Erred in Giving JI 40, Any Error was Harmless Beyond a Reasonable Doubt

Assuming the district court erred by including in JI 40 the slight evidence admissibility standard for co-conspirator statements, any error was harmless. Mr. H cannot demonstrate a "reasonable likelihood" that the jury would have concluded JI 40, read in the context of the other instructions, authorized it to convict Mr. H based on slight evidence of his involvement in a conspiracy. See Boyde, Collman, supra. Mr. H has already admitted on the record that mention of the slight evidence admissibility standard actually benefited him:

Mr. Gentile: But this is conspiracy law in an evidentiary sense. This is in the [sic] conspiracy law in a liability sense. And, frankly, I don't see any need for this jury to – I mean, it really – it really – how do I put it? *It really disfavors* the defendant more not to have the instruction. We're basically – you have basically ruled that they can consider this evidence. It is true that you make the finding in terms of admissibility, okay.

In the midst of arguing this first ground of appeal, Mr. H secretes in a footnote a completely unrelated "independent additional ground for reversal" alleging the district court erred by not providing a verdict form listing separate, alternate entries for Battery Causing Substantial Bodily Harm and Battery with a Deadly Weapon. App. Op. Br. 41 n.24. This purported ground of appeal is inadequately presented and thus waived. See, e.g., Nat'l Foreign Trade Council v. Natsios, 181 F.3d 38, 60 n.17 (1st Cir. 1999) ("We have repeatedly held that are repeatedly and the second held that arguments raised only in a footnote or in a perfunctory manner are waived."). Further, Mr. H's claim that he ever raised this issue below is pure fiction. The district court never acknowledged the propriety of a verdict form separating the two battery offenses. Such an acknowledgement does not appear in the portion of the record Mr. H cites to. In fact, the an acknowledgement does not appear in the portion of the record Mr. He cites to. In fact, the court was actually describing as "fine" a special verdict form providing separate entries for the conspiracies to murder Hadland and Zone/Taoipu. 5 AA 998-1000. Mr. Gentile's objection was to the Information, which he viewed as "duplicitous [sic] [in] that it had two conspiracies jammed into one." 5 AA 999. With the exception of the proposed verdict form, the record is entirely devoid of Mr. H objecting to the court's selected verdict forms. His attorneys cannot stand mute during settling of verdict forms and then for the first time, at sentencing when the jury has already been discharged, argue entitlement to a particular verdict form. Brascia v. Johnson, 105 Nev. 592, 596 n.2, 781 P.2d 765, 786 n.2 (1989) (postdischarge challenge to verdict form does not preserve error). Further, merely submitting a proposed, alternative verdict form fails to preserve an issue for appeal. <u>Eberhard Mfg. Co. v. Baldwin</u>, 97 Nev. 271, 273 628 P.2d 681, 682 (1981) (efficient administration of justice requires that submission of alternative verdict form coupled with failure to object to verdict form prior to jury discharge does not preserve issue for appeal). Although waived and inadequately presented, if the Court believes this footnoted ground of appeal warrants a response, the State requests an opportunity to provide a supplemental brief on the issue.

[Bourjaily] and the cases in Nevada that follow [Bourjaily] makes [sic] that clear. And so I really don't think that this – at this point in time it's a jury issue anymore. The jury can consider that evidence period. 23 AA 4212 (emphasis added).

1

2

3

4

5

6

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

2.2

23

24

25

26

27

28

Mr. Gentile's analysis is strongly supported by the federal caselaw addressing instances where a jury is erroneously instructed on the federal preponderance standard for admissibility of co-conspirator statements. Indeed, the error always inures to a defendant's benefit, thus it does not warrant reversal; in discussing Bourjaily, the Third Circuit has explained:

[W]e have never "condemned" the practice of giving jury instructions on the admissibility of co-conspirator's statements against individual defendants. In Continental Group, we suggested in dicta that jury instructions concerning the factual foundation required for application of the co-conspirator exception to the hearsay rule are best omitted, as they give the jury the "opportunity to second-guess the court's decision to admit coconspirator declarations." 603 F.2d at 459. We observed, however, that such instructions could not give rise to reversible error because, if anything, they inure to the benefit of the defendant. Id. U.S. v. Pungitore, 910 F.2d 1084, 1147 (3d Cir. 1990) (emphasis added), cert

denied, 500 U.S. 915, 111 S.Ct. 2010 (1991).

Likewise, the Fifth Circuit has noted the absence of any prejudice to a defendant:

The judge [] erred by permitting the jury to consider the admissibility question. However, as we noted in United States v. Noll, 600 F.2d 1123 (5th Cir. 1979), when a jury is instructed about the admissibility of a co-conspirator's statements, the government is essentially "required to demonstrate twice the admissibility of the (evidence), once to the court ... and once to the jury" Id. at 1128. The appellant, having been given two bites at the apple, was afforded greater protection than required under James and therefore was not prejudiced by the instruction.

U.S. v. Chanev. 662 F.2d 1148, 1154 (5th Cir. 1981) (emphasis added).

The 11th, 6th, 4th, and 9th Circuits have long concurred in this view. See U.S. v. Monaco, 702 F.2d 860, 878 (11th Cir. 1983) (submission to jury of co-conspirator admissibility determination did not prejudice defendant because "by giving [the] instruction, the judge merely gave the jury the opportunity to overturn his own ruling"); U.S. v. Nickerson, 606 F.2d 156, 158 (6th Cir. 1979) (holding that identical error did not prejudice defendant because it merely gave the defendant "the benefit of the jury's consideration of admissibility" or a "second bite at the apple"), cert. denied, 444 U.S. 994, 100 S.Ct. 528 (1979); <u>U.S. v. Chindawongse</u>, 771 F.2d 840, 845 n.4 (4th Cir. 1985) (quoting <u>U.S. v.</u> Spoone, 741 F.2d 680, 686 n.1 (4th Cir. 1984)), cert. denied, 474 U.S. 1085, 106 S.Ct. 859

(1985); <u>U.S. v. Lutz</u>, 621 F.2d 940, 946 n.2 (9th Cir. 1980), <u>cert. denied</u>, 449 U.S. 859, 101 S.Ct. 160 (1980), <u>abrogated on other grounds by Bourjaily, supra</u>, (submitting co-conspirator statement admissibility determination to the jury "was not reversible error [] since it simply afforded the defendants unnecessary double protection: hearings before both the court and the jury.").

Thus, by Mr. H's own admission and the great weight of directly applicable authority, JI 40's inclusion of the "slight evidence" admissibility standard for co-conspirator statements was utterly harmless and actually benefited Mr. H. Finally, as the district court's order pointed out, because Mr. H's jury was repeatedly instructed and reminded during deliberations of the State's burden to prove every element and charge beyond a reasonable doubt, JI 40 did not create a reasonable likelihood of an erroneous conviction, therefore the only error would be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. "[N]ot every ambiguity, inconsistency, or deficiency in a jury instruction rises to the level of a due process violation." Middleton v. McNeil, 541 U.S. 433, 436, 124 S.Ct. 1830, 1832 (2004).

THE STATE PRESENTED SUFFICIENT CORROBORATING EVIDENCE TO PERMIT CONVICTION OF MR. H BASED ON ACCOMPLICE TESTIMONY

Mr. H's second ground of appeal asserts the State failed to present sufficient evidence to corroborate the testimony of Zone and Espindola. NRS 175.291 provides:

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